IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 64,874 SID J ILE 15 1384 MAR CLERK, SUFREME COL RT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

IN RE: THE ESTATE OF

HOLLY E. GAINER,

Deceased.

CAROL GAINER, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of HOLLY E. GAINER,

Appellant,

vs.

DOROTHY DORAN AND MARY ADAMS,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

An Appeal Taken From The District Court of Appeal Fifth District of Florida

> JOHN M. STARLING, ESQUIRE of CROFTON, HOLLAND, STARLING, HARRIS & SEVERS, P.A. 509 Palm Ave., P. O. Box 669 Titusville, Florida 32781-0669 (305) 267-1711

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, CAROL GAINER, is one of three daughters of the decedent, HOLLY E. GAINER, and also is the Personal Representative of her father's estate. The Appellees, DOROTHY DORAN and MARY ADAMS, are the other two daughters of the decedent.

Prior to his death, the decedent had opened savings accounts and acquired certificates of deposits in the joint names of the Appellant and himself in The Merritt Square Bank, a state banking corporation ("Bank") and First Federal Savings & Loan Association of Titusville, a federal savings and loan association ("Federal").

A dispute arose among the daughters as to whether the Bank and Federal accounts should be assets of the estate or assets of the Appellant individually. After a bench trial, the Circuit Judge held that the Bank accounts were assets of the estate, but that the Federal accounts were assets of the Appellant, individually.

The Appellees appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal the lower Court's determination as to ownership of the Federal accounts. The Appellant cross-appealed the lower Court's ruling that the Bank accounts were assets of the estate and the lower Court's ruling as to the amount of interest the Appellant would be required to pay on the Bank accounts.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal upheld the lower Court's judgment that the Bank accounts were assets of the estate, but reversed the lower Court's method of assessment of interest against the Appellant on the Bank accounts. These two determinations of the Fifth District Court of Appeal are not issues in this appeal to the Supreme Court of the State of Florida.

- 2 -

The Fifth District Court of Appeal then reversed the lower Court's ruling that the Federal accounts were the assets of the Appellant, individually, and ruled that the Federal accounts were assets of the estate. This ruling of the Fifth District is the subject of this appeal. Doran and Adams v. Gainer, 443 So.2d 473 (5th DCA Fla. 1984).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal, in its opinion reversing the lower Court's judgment as to the Federal accounts, said, at 443 So.2d 479:

"Accordingly, we hold that section 665.063(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1981), is unconstitutional under the equal protection clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions insofar as it purports to provide that the opening of a joint account payable to a survivor or survivors in a savings association is <u>conclusive</u> evidence in an action wherein a survivor is a party against third-party claimants or other survivors. We therefore reverse the trial court's award to Carol Gainer of all of the monies deposited in the Federal account by her father, Holly Gainer."

ISSUE ON APPEAL

IS SECTION 665.063(1)(a) OF FLORIDA STATUTES (1981) UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS INSOFAR AS SAID STATUTE PROVIDES THAT THE OPENING OF A JOINT ACCOUNT IN THE STATUTORY FORM SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE EVIDENCE OF OWNERSHIP OF THE ACCOUNT IN AN ACTION AGAINST THE SURVIVING ACCOUNT HOLDER?

In the instant case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that Section 665.063(1)(a) of Florida Statutes (1981), relating to survivorship rights in a joint account in a federal savings and loan association, is unconstitutional under the equal protection clauses of the United States and Florida Constitution insofar as it purports to provide that the opening of a joint account in such an association is conclusive evidence in an action wherein the survivor is a party against third-party claimants or other survivors.

Section 658.56 of Florida Statutes (1981), relating to survivorship rights in a joint account in a commercial bank, provides that such accounts may be set aside by proof of fraud, undue influence or clear and convincing proof of a contrary intent whereas a joint account in a savings and loan association may be set aside only by proof of fraud or undue influence. The inability of a litigant to set aside a joint account in a savings and loan association by clear and convincing evidence of a contrary interest, the Fifth District reasoned, resulted in an unreasonable and unconstitutional classification by the Legislature of survivorship rights to joint accounts in different types of banking establishments.

Article I, Section 2, of the Florida constitution provides that all natural persons are equal before the law and the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States declares that no state shall deny

- 4 -

to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. Article 1, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution provides that no persons shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law as does the Fourteenth Amendment to the Federal Constitution. It is these provisions of our organic law that the Fifth District held to be violated by Section 665.063(1)(a) of Florida Statutes (1981).

The Circuit Court in the instant case determined the the savings and loan association statute was constitutional, finding that all depositors in savings and loan associations are treated equally, and that likewise, all depositors in banks are treated equally. The Circuit Court then determined that the distinctions between the two sections did not violate the rights of the two sisters attacking the joint accounts to due process and equal protection of the law. The Fifth District held that the affected classes are not the depositors, but, in this case, the testamentary beneficiaries of the Gainer estate, who receive variable treatment dependant solely upon the type of financial institution in which the testator's joint accounts were located at his death.

The Fifth District, therefore, held that the statute relating to joint deposits in a savings and loan association was unconstitutional because it does not contain the same language as the statute relating to joint accounts in a bank. One might just as succinctly state that the bank statute is unconstitutional because it is not identical to the savings and loan association statute. The Florida Legislature has determined to treat such joint accounts differently in the various chapters governing such financial institutions. This was the evident choice of the Florida legislature and not an oversight. This Court has previously held that the Legislature may permit savings and loan associations to charge higher interest rates than other financial institutions are allowed to charge. <u>Cesary</u>, <u>infra</u>, and <u>Catogas</u>, <u>infra</u>. This Court also has determined that there is nothing in the Federal Constitution which prevents the state legislature from limiting, conditioning, or even abolishing the power of testamentary disposition of property within its jurisdiction. <u>In Re Estate of</u> <u>Greenberg</u>, <u>infra</u>.

The cases cited by the Fifth District as authority that Section 665.063(1)(a) is unconstitutional both involved deprivation of a protected property right--master plumbers' licenses in <u>Wiggens v. City of</u> <u>Jacksonville</u>, 311 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975) and marketing of mullet in <u>Caldwell v. Mann</u>, 26 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1946). The Appellees had no property right in the assets of Holly E. Gainer which is entitled to protection under the constitutions of the United States and the State of Florida. The Appellees at most had a mere expectancy that they would inherit assets from their father, Holly E. Gainer.

The Appellees did not allege in their pleadings that Section 665.063(1)(a) of Florida Statutes (1981) was unconstitutional (R: 153-162). They did not present any evidence at the trial which showed the statute was unconstitutional (R: 1-147; 176-237). This issue was first presented to the lower Court by Appellees' Motion for Rehearing (R: 238) filed after the Court entered its final order in this cause. The Appellees failed to meet their burden to establish the invalidity of the statute. <u>Prior v. White</u>, 132 Fla. 1, 180 So. 347 (1938). Basic tenets of constitutional law provide that the statute is presumptively constitutional and prima facie valid. This Court is required to construe the statute as valid unless it can be said that it positively

- 6 -

and certainly conflicts with the Constitution under any rational view taken. The District Court's holding that Section 665.063(1)(a) is unconstitutional is tantamount to saying that the Legislature is required to provide the same survivorship rules, in all instances, for all species of property.

Equal protection of the laws means that each person is entitled to stand before the law on equal terms with, to enjoy the same rights as belong to, and to bear the same burdens as are imposed on, others in a similar situation. The guaranty of equal protection does not require that a statute must apply equally and uniformly to all persons within the state. it is sufficient if the statute applies uniformly to all persons similarly situated. Thus, the right to equal protection of the laws is not denied when a statutory provision is applicable to all persons in the state under similar circumstances and conditions.

Florida is not the only state to have adopted statutes providing that the opening of a joint account in the statutory form vests title to the funds remaining in the account upon the death of a depositor in the surviving account holder except where fraud or undue influence is proven. Courts in several states have sustained such statutes which prevent judicial inquiry into the intent of the deceased depositor as to the funds in such account.

A New Jersey statute provided that if a joint account is opened in the manner prescribed by statute, that the surviving joint account holder shall be conclusively presumed to be the owner of such account upon the death of the other joint account holder. In <u>Ward v. Marine</u> <u>Nat'l Bank</u>, 183 A.2d 60 (Sp.Ct.N.J. 1962), the estate of a decedent contended that the statute worked an unconstitutional denial of property

- 7 -

because the device of a "conclusive presumption" precluded judicial probing into the true nature of the the parties' intent, thus denying to the estate the opportunity to introduce evidence of intent. In affirming the estate against the constitutional attack, the Court in <u>Ward</u>, <u>supra</u>, at Pages 63-64, stated:

"In obvious response to the court's insistence that, if the Legislature meant survivorship to be an invariable attribute of a joint bank account, it would have to say so in terms not capable of being interpreted as causing a mere rebuttable presumption, the amending act here at issue was passed. Confirmation of the conclusion that the phrasing of the new statute in terms of a conclusive presumption was in response to judicial prodding is afforded by the introducer's statement attached to the bill which became L. 1954, c. 209.

> 'It is the purpose of this bill to provide for survivorship in certain time or demand deposit accounts maintained in banking institutions.

> The courts have held that present law raises only a rebuttable presumption of an intent to create the right of survivorship.

This bill provides that the presumption of an intent to create the right of survivorship shall be conclusive.'

"It becomes clear, then, that both N.J.S.A. 17:9A-216 and N.J.S.A. 17:9A-218 were fashioned in terms designed to fill the same judicially expressed need. For the same reasons set out in <u>Howard</u>, <u>supra</u>, i.e., that although the statute is couched in terms of a presumption, the true legislative intent was to make a new rule of substantive law, we reject the attack on the constitutionality of the latter statte and hold that it represents a valid exercise of the legislative power to alter both the common law requirements of gifts and the Statute of Wills. Nor are we alone in this view for other states have held similar statutes governing these accounts constitutional. See <u>Hill v. Badeljy</u>, 107 Cal.App. 598, 290 P. 637 (D.Ct.App. 1930); <u>Heiner v. Greenwich Savings Bank</u>, 118 Misc. 326, 193 N.Y.S. 291 (Sup.Ct. 1922). Quite clearly, the statute here involved gives both parties to the account a present right of survivorship."

This Court, in <u>In Re Estate of Greenberg</u>, 390 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1980), <u>appeal dismissed</u>, 450 U.S. 961, held that Florida may enact statutes which prohibit non-residents who are not related to the decedent in a specified manner from qualifying as a personal representative of an estate. Sections 733.302 and 733.304 were asserted by a non-resident seeking appointment as a personal representative to be violative of the equal protection and due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. In discussing the judicial principles to be applied in determining whether a statute denies equal protection of the laws, this Court said, at Pages 42-43:

"The rational basis or minimum scrutiny test generally employed in equal protection analysis requires only that a statute bear some reasonable relationship to a legitimate state purpose. That the statute may result incidentally in some inequality or that it is not drawn with mathematical precision will not result in its Rather, the statutory classification to be held invalidity. unconstitutionally violative of the equal protection clause under this test must cause different treatments so disparate as relates the difference in classification to as to be wholly SO arbitrary...."

"The strict scrutiny analysis requires careful examination of the governmental interest claimed to justify the classification in order to determine whether that interest is substantial and compelling and requires inquiry as to whether the means adopted to achieve the legislative goal are necessarily and precisely This test, which is almost always fatal in its drawn.... application, imposes a heavy burden of justification upon the state and applies only when the statute operates to the disadvantage of some suspect class such as race, nationality, or alienage or impinges upon a fundamental right explicitly or implicitly Those fundamental rights to which protected by the constitution. this test applies have been carefully and narrowly defined by the Supreme Court of the United States and have included rights of a uniquely private nature such as abortions, ...; the right to vote, ...; the right of interstate travel, ...; first amendment rights, ...; and procreation"

"The Supreme Court of the United States has refused to expand fundamental rights beyond those explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the constitution. Addressing the constitutionality of the Texas statutory system for public education against an equal protection challenge, the Supreme Court, in <u>San Antonio Independent School</u> <u>District v. Rodriguez</u>, 411 U.S. 1, 93 S.Ct. 1278, 36 L.Ed.2d 16 (1973), held that the financing system did not impinge on any fundamental right so as to call for application of the strict scrutiny test since education was not a right afforded explicit or implicit protection under the constitution. The Supreme Court carefully delineated the limits of the fundamental rights rationale in its equal protection decisions; explained that the Court does

- 9 -

not pick out particular human activities, characterize them as fundamental, and then give them added protection; and emphasized that it was not within the Court's province to create substantive rights in the name of guaranteeing equal protection. It declared that just because state legislation affects a matter gravely important to society, this is not a sufficient basis to characterize it as fundamental. See also Lindsey v. Normet, 405 U.S. 56, 92 S.Ct. 862, 31 L.Ed.2d 36 (1972). Rather, the Court stated that it merely recognizes an established constitutional right and gives to that right no less protection than the constitution itself demands."

"Pincus characterizes as fundamental the testator's right to appoint a personal representative, thus impelling application of the strict scrutiny test. We cannot agree since this right is not one explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the constitution. In fact, the right to make a will and other matters relating thereto such as designation of a personal representative are rights created by statute. The constitution commits to the states the power to control the administration of the estates of their citizens. Labine v. Vincent, 401 U.S. 532, 91 S.Ct. 1017, 28 L.Ed. 288 (1971); Demorest v. City Bank Farmers Trust Co., 321 U.S. 36, 64 S.Ct. 384, 88 L.Ed. 526 (1944). There is nothing in the federal constitution which would forbid the state legislature to limit, condition, or even abolish the power of testamentary disposition of property within its jurisdiction. We have ofttimes reiterated that the power to alienate property by last will and testament is not an inherent right of a citizen but rather is one derived from legislation. Efstathion v. Saucer, 158 Fla. 422, 29 So.2d 304 (1947); Taylor v. Payne, 154 Fla. 359, 17 So.2d 615 (1944), appeal dismissed, 323 U.S. 666, 65 S.Ct. 49, 89 L.Ed. 647 (1944); In re Sharp's Estate, 133 Fla. 802, 183 So. 470 (1938). See also Simon, Redfearn Wills and Administration in Florida, 5th edition (1977), section 2.03. Notwithstanding the decision of the federal district court in Fain v. Hall, 463 F.Supp. 661 (M.D.Fla. 1979), which we find to be wholly unpersuasive, we hold that the right to appoint a personal representative is not one of the fundamental rights implicating utilization of the strict scrutiny test."

After determining that the rational basis or minimum scrutiny test should apply, this Court then held Sections 733.302 and 733.304 of Florida Statutes to be constitutional and stated, at Pages 45-46:

"Since neither a suspect class nor a fundamental right is affected by the legislation in question, the rational basis or minimum scrutiny test applies in evaluating the equal protection challenge. Utilizing this test, we hold that the distinctions drawn by sections 733.302 and 733.304 bear a reasonable relationship to a legitimate state objective and therefore do not violate the equal protection clause. The state, in enacting these provisions, recognized that the administration of a decedent's estate is an intensely localized matter requiring the personal representative to be thoroughly informed on local matters and to be available to the court, beneficiaries, and creditors of the estate. The state declares that these statutes serve the valid function of ensuring that the personal representative, if not a relative of the testator, is close enough in proximity to the Florida estate to protect the rights of the creditors, ensure that the estate will be probated without needless delays caused by travel, and reduce the cost of representation to the estate by reducing travel costs or preventing the need to associate an in-state representative. In In re the Estate of Fernandez, 335 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1976), we expressly recognized that the residency requirement, along with the statutory provision that a person incompetent to discharge the duties of a personal representative is not qualified to serve, guarantees the basic ability to perform the duties of a personal representative."

"Pincus further maintains that the exemption in section 733.304 for nonresident relatives of a decedent demonstrates that the statute is irrational. We disagree. Where utilizing the rationality test, the equal protection clause is not violated merely because a classification made by the laws is not perfect. Equal protection does not require a state to choose between attacking every aspect of the problem or not attacking it at all, and a statutory discrimination will not be set aside if any statement of facts reasonably may be conceived to justify it. Dandridge v. Williams. To be constitutional, a statutory classification need not be all-inclusive. <u>Newman v. Carson</u>, 280 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1973). Furthermore, we find that it is not unreasonable for an exception to be created for nonresident relatives because, more than likely, the nonresident relative will also be a beneficiary of the decedent's estate."

The Appellant is "<u>In Re Estate of Greenberg</u>, <u>supra</u>, also maintained that Sections 733.302 and 733.304 violated the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment because said statutes create an irrebuttable presumption that otherwise competent persons are not qualified to serve as personal representatives because of their non-residency. This Court held that the conclusive presumption contained in the statutes regulating appointment of personal representatives was constitutional as measured against the reasonableness test since the statutes represent a rational means of accomplishing a legitimate state goal.

In <u>State v. Woodruff</u>, 184 So. 81 (Fla. 1938), a Tampa ordinance regulating "fire sales" and "Bankrupt sales" contained classifications as to those who conducted business at the same site for a least one year and those who had not been in business at the same site for one year. The classification was sustained, with this Court saying that such city ordinances should not be held invalid unless they are unreasonable and arbitrary or grossly unjust and oppressive under classifications as made.

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