# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 64,874

IN RE: THE ESTATE OF

HOLLY E. GAINER,

Deceased.

CAROL GAINER, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of HOLLY E. GAINER,

Appellant,

vs.

DOROTHY DORAN and MARY ADAMS,

Appellees.

FILED

APR 9 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

An Appeal Taken From The District Court of Appeal Fifth District of Florida

> RONALD W. SIKES, ESQUIRE RONALD W. SIKES, P.A. 150 Taylor Street, Suite B Titusville, Florida 32780 (305) 269-6639

Attorney for Appellees

##

#### **ARGUMENT**

IS SECTION 665.063(1)(a) OF FLORIDA STATUTES (1981) UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE UNITED STATES AND FLÖRIDA CONSTITUTIONS INSOFAR AS SAID STATUTE PROVIDES THAT THE OPENING OF A JOINT ACCOUNT IN THE STATUTORY FORM SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE EVIDENCE OF OWNERSHIP OF THE ACCOUNT IN AN ACTION AGAINST THE SURVIVING ACCOUNT HOLDER?

This appeal is before the Court for review of the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal (A-21) entered January 12, 1984, determining Section 655.063(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1981), (previously Section 655.271), as applied by the trial court, to be violative of the equal protection clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions. The decision arises out of the application of that statute to joint accounts in the Federal and the application of Section 658.56, Florida Statutes (1981), (previously Section 659.291) to joint accounts in the Bank. In the argument that follows, Appellees will endeavor to demonstrate the appropriateness of the Fifth District's action and to exhibit the solid foundation upon which the decision is based.

This action arose out of a dispute between three (3) sisters as to the proper disposition of approximately \$100,000.00 in savings accumulated by their father during his lifetime. The funds were held in joint accounts and certificates of deposit established by their father, Holly E. Gainer, in which he and Appellant were listed as account holders. Appellant asserted that she was entitled to the funds as a surviving joint tenant on

the accounts. Appellees, as residuary beneficiaries under their father's Will, contended that the funds were estate assets, based upon the expressed intent of the Decedent in establishing the joint accounts for convenience to enable Appellant to evenly distribute the funds among his daughters.

Through the adversary proceeding in the trial court, it was factually determined:

. . .by clear and convincing evidence and, in fact, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the decedent considered himself the sole owner of these accounts, that his intent in establishing those accounts was merely to facilitate their division among his children after his death through Carol A. Gainer, his named Personal Representative, and it was not his intent that Carol A. Gainer receive all of these proceeds to the exclusion of his other children. (Order dated January 19, 1983, paragraph 5 (R-171; A-11).)

That finding of fact is not questioned in this appeal. Yet, the trial judge considered himself constrained by the provisions of Section 665.063(1)(a), <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1981), to allow Appellant to keep the funds in the Federal. Under Section 658.56, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1981), he determined that the Court was authorized to carry out the intent of the Decedent and ordered the return of the Bank funds to the estate.

The basis upon which the trial judge reached his decision with its inapposite results was his interpretation of the cited statutes as they relate to the means afforded by each to overcome what we will refer to as the "presumption of intended survivorship". The effect of both statutes is that upon the

death of a depositing holder in a joint account in which the funds are payable to the surviving account holder, there arises a presumption of fact that the depositor intended for the funds in the account to be the separate property of the survivor.

Each statute provides for certain means of rebutting or overcoming the effect of the presumption of intended survivorship. The savings and loan statute provides that the presumption arises only "in the absence of fraud or undue influence". The provision applicable to banks allows for rebuttal of the presumption by "proof of fraud or undue influence or clear and convincing proof of a contrary intent". (Emphasis supplied.) It is the different statutory methods of avoiding the presumption which caused the trial judge to reach his disparate ruling finding Appellant entitled to the Federal funds but not the Bank accounts.

Following entry of the trial court's decision (R-171; A-11) applying the statutes in a manner which Appellees considered to be violative of their constitutionally guaranteed rights of due process and equal protection of the law, they raised the constitutional grounds by Motion for Rehearing (R-238; A-16). The trial judge rejected those contentions, holding that the statutes did not violate Appellees' rights as estate beneficiaries since "... all depositors in a federal savings and loan association are treated equally ... and, likewise that all depositors in a state bank are treated equally ... ". (R-

249; A-16).

In reversing the trial court's decision on the constitutional question, the Fifth District Court of Appeal, in <a href="Doran v. Gainer">Doran v. Gainer</a>, 443 So.2d 473 (Fla. 5th D.C.A. 1984), at page 478 (A-26), stated the following:

It is here, as we see it, that the trial court's analysis is erroneous. The affected classes are not the depositors but, in this case, the testamentary beneficiaries. These beneficiaries receive variable treatment dependent solely upon the location (bank or savings association) of the testator's assets during his life, a fact irrelevant to the issue of the testator's intent and the proper disposition of those funds upon his death.

Appellant insists in her Initial Brief at pages 5 and 6, however, that the classification and differing treatments of estate beneficiaries based upon the depository selected by their Decedent is constitutionally permissable. She contends, in effect, that "a bank is a bank" and "a savings association is a savings association" and that's difference enough to justify the absolutely opposite disposition of funds of the Decedent in each financial institution.

Cited by Appellant as authority for the permissability of the distinction is the fact that savings and loan associations are allowed to charge higher interest rate than banks. Relying upon this Court's decisions in <a href="Cesary v. Second National Bank of North Miami">Cesary v. Second National Bank of North Miami</a>, 369 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1979), and <a href="Catogas v. Southern Federal Savings">Catogas v. Southern Federal Savings and Loan Association</a>, 369 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1979),

Appellant reasons that allowing the legislature to permit financial institutions to charge different interest rates opens the door to the discriminatory classifications and treatments in the case sub judice. Although quoting from Cesary at page 14 of her Brief, Appellant seems to disregard the equal protection standards set forth therein. At 369 So.2d at page 921, this Court stated, in part, as follows:

"Classification" is the grouping of things because they agree with one another in certain particulars and differ from other things in the same particulars. Anderson v. Board of Public Instruction, 102 Fla. 695, 136 So. 334 (1931) . . . statutory classifications must be reasonable and must be based upon some difference bearing a reasonable and just relationship to the subject matter regulated . . . .

Where "real differences of conditions affecting the subject matter regulated" exist, this Court recognized that distinct classifications by the legislature were permissable. Conversely, where no such real and relevant differences exist, the classifications and disparate treatment cannot be tolerated. As stated in <u>Anderson v. Board of Public Instruction</u>, 102 Fla. 695, 136 So. 334 (1931):

But when a classification is made, the question always is whether there is any reasonable ground for it, or whether it is only and simply arbitrary based upon no real distinction and entirely unnatural. Classifications must always rest upon some difference which bears a reasonable and just relation to the act in respect to which the classification is proposed, and can never be made arbitrarily and without any such basis. (Citations omitted.)

Appellees are cognizant of their burden of proving an

absence of any reasonable basis for a classification and its (Anderson, supra.) We meet this burden by arbitrariness. suggesting to the Court that the classification here is so unreasonable, baseless and arbitrary that it speaks for itself. On what basis could the legislature classify the disposition of joint savings accounts in savings and loan associations in any diiferent group from that of joint savings accounts in banks? is true that savings and loans have been, in certain circumstances, allowed to charge higher interest rates on loans and to pay slightly higher interest rates on savings accounts than banks. It was true that savings and loans associations could only make loans secured by real property whereas banks could lend money unsecured or secured by nearly any specie of And it is true that deposits in the Federal are insured by the FSLIC rather than the FDIC which insures national banks. But how do these differences relate in particular to the differing manners of rebutting or overcoming the presumption of intended survivorship. We submit that they do not - in any way.

Directing the Court's attention to the area of testamentary disposition, we agree with Appellant that the legislature has authority to regulate that process. However, such regulation is also subject to the constitutional restraints discussed above. Is there any reasonable basis from this standpoint to require more of estate beneficiaries attempting to rebut the presumption of vesting of the account in a survivor in savings and loan

accounts than in banks? Again, there is no reason for the conflicting requirements. No differences between bank regulations and savings and loan regulations appear to exist which would merit the greater burden on the savings and loan association group. Nothing, such as a Statute of Frauds consideration, operation of the Dead Man's Statute or any other practical or real basis for imposing differing burdens to overcome the presumption of intended survivorship, is present. There simply is no reasonable or just reason to classify the estate beneficiaries differently simply because their Decedent chose to deposit his savings in both types of financial institutions.

As argued below and accepted by the Fifth District, the only reasonable (but not justifiable or constitutionally acceptable) explanation for the distinction created by the statutes is legislative oversight. The sections appear in different chapters of Florida Statutes and were intially adopted during separate legislative sessions - 659.291 in 1971 and 665.271 in 1969. Apparently, neither the legislature nor the courts have been called upon to correct this "irrational distinction" prior to this action. Doran v. Gainer, supra at page 5.

Appellant rather summarily rejects <u>Wiggins v. City of</u>

<u>Jacksonville</u>, 311 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1975) and <u>Caldwell</u>

<u>v. Mann</u>, 157 Fla. 633, 26 So.2d 788 (1946), cited by the lower

appellate court as authority for its decision in the case sub She declares that Appellants had no vested property interest in the accounts established and held by their father, despite their status as testamentary beneficiaries. Yet, in Estate of Zaloudek, 407 So.2d 317 (Fla. 4th D.C.A. 1981), the Fourth District recognized the right of residuary legatees to question in an adversary proceeding the exclusion of assets which they felt were estate assets. Although we are uncertain as to whether Appellant is questioning Appellees' standing to assert this claim, it would seem apparent that the right of an estate beneficiary to what is or may be declared to be estate property is a right which vests in interest upon the death of the Decedent. There is no distinction here between the vested interest of an estate beneficiary (albeit "possession" of that asset may not be vested) and the vested interest or property right of a master plumber to practice his trade or of a fisherman to continue to fish.

Of all the authorities researched and of those cited by Appellant, we believe that the <u>Wiggins</u> and <u>Caldwell</u> decisions are, in fact, the most closely analogous to this case. In <u>Wiggins</u>, the City of Jacksonville adopted an ordinance providing for the licensing of master plumbers, accepting without further qualification those who had a license in the City of Jacksonville Beach who had a similar license. Other communities in the Duval County area were specifically excluded as qualifying for the

grandfathering-in of their master plumbers, even though their licensing requirements were equal to that of Jacksonville Beach.

In finding the ordinance created an "unreasonable, arbitrary and capricious classification", the ordinance was held unenforceable as being unconstitutional. The following excerpts from the <u>Wiggins</u> decision (311 So.2d at page 408) are equally applicable here:

. . . A classification, to be upheld, must "have some just relation to, or reasonable basis in, essential differences of conditions and circumstances in reference to the subject regulated, and should not be merely arbitrary; and all similarly situated . . . should be included in one class, at least where there are no practical differences that are sufficient to legally warrant a further or special classification in the interest of the general welfare". (Citation.). . . an ordinance, although nondiscriminatory on its face, may nevertheless be declared unconstitutional where its effect is to discriminate between persons in the same class. (Citation.)

Similarly, this Court in <u>Caldwell v. Mann</u>, <u>supra</u> at page 8, sitting <u>en Banc.</u>, declared a statute permitting the marketing of mullet only in certain counties while prohibiting it in others as violative of the equal protection clauses of the state and federal Constitutions. The Court found "no conceivably just basis for the classifications or discriminations" and ruled that the statute could not be enforced in certain counties where its effect would be to impose a burden upon one person which would not be imposed "upon others in a like situation".

Appellees acknowledge Appellant's reliance upon this Court's

decision in Estate of Greenberg, 390 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1980). We agree that it cannot be demonstrated by established precedent that the right of estate beneficiaries to share in the distribution of all of their Decedent's estate is a fundamental right or that estate beneficiaries are a "suspect class". (Although we would assert that the right of an estate beneficiary to receive his or her inheritance is a "fundamental right".) Nevertheless, the consequence of such acknowledgment is to merely invoke the "rational basis or minimum scrutiny tests" argued supra.

Greenberg demonstrates a very appropriate classification by the state legislature based upon a reasonable distinction and a rational means of accomplishing the state objective. There, the provisions of Section 733.302 and 733.304, Florida Statutes (1977), restricting non-resident personal representatives only to relatives of the decedent, were found to be reasonably related to the functions and demands of the office of estate personal representatives. It is factually opposite to the case subjudice, however, due to the total absence here of any reasonable basis for imposing differing burdens upon estate beneficiaries based upon the type of account depository selected by their decedent.

Appellees have carefully reviewed the numerous decisions cited by Appellant not specifically addressed herein. It is our position that none of those cases require reversal of the

decision under review. In fact, those cases demonstrate that the constitutionality of statutory regulation by classifications and differing requirements affecting those classifications is resolved on a case by case basis. Where it is demonstrated, as here, that no reasonable relationship exists between the legislative objective and that the classification is discriminatory, arbitrary and opressive, the offensive statute must not be enforced. <u>United Yacht Brokers</u>, <u>Inc. v. Gillespie</u>, 377 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1979).

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